

N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Release Notes

Sun Microsystems, Inc. 4150 Network Circle Santa Clara, CA 95054 U.S.A.

Part No: 817–6505–10 December 2004 Copyright 2004 Sun Microsystems, Inc. 4150 Network Circle, Santa Clara, CA 95054 U.S.A. All rights reserved.

This product or document is protected by copyright and distributed under licenses restricting its use, copying, distribution, and decompilation. No part of this product or document may be reproduced in any form by any means without prior written authorization of Sun and its licensors, if any. Third-party software, including font technology, is copyrighted and licensed from Sun suppliers.

Parts of the product may be derived from Berkeley BSD systems, licensed from the University of California. UNIX is a registered trademark in the U.S. and other countries, exclusively licensed through X/Open Company, Ltd.

Sun, Sun Microsystems, the Sun logo, docs.sun.com, AnswerBook, AnswerBook2, N1 and Solaris are trademarks or registered trademarks of Sun Microsystems, Inc. in the U.S. and other countries. All SPARC trademarks are used under license and are trademarks or registered trademarks of SPARC International, Inc. in the U.S. and other countries. Products bearing SPARC trademarks are based upon an architecture developed by Sun Microsystems, Inc. Netscape is a trademark or registered trademark of Netscape Communications Corporation in the United States and other countries. UNIX is a registered trademark in the United States and other countries, exclusively licensed through X/Open Company, Ltd.

The OPEN LOOK and Sun^{TM} Graphical User Interface was developed by Sun Microsystems, Inc. for its users and licensees. Sun acknowledges the pioneering efforts of Xerox in researching and developing the concept of visual or graphical user interfaces for the computer industry. Sun holds a non-exclusive license from Xerox to the Xerox Graphical User Interface, which license also covers Sun's licensees who implement OPEN LOOK GUIs and otherwise comply with Sun's written license agreements.

U.S. Government Rights – Commercial software. Government users are subject to the Sun Microsystems, Inc. standard license agreement and applicable provisions of the FAR and its supplements.

DOCUMENTATION IS PROVIDED "AS IS" AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED CONDITIONS, REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT, ARE DISCLAIMED, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH DISCLAIMERS ARE HELD TO BE LEGALLY INVALID.

Copyright 2004 Sun Microsystems, Inc. 4150 Network Circle, Santa Clara, CA 95054 U.S.A. Tous droits réservés.

Ce produit ou document est protégé par un copyright et distribué avec des licences qui en restreignent l'utilisation, la copie, la distribution, et la décompilation. Aucune partie de ce produit ou document ne peut être reproduite sous aucune forme, par quelque moyen que ce soit, sans l'autorisation préalable et écrite de Sun et de ses bailleurs de licence, s'il y en a. Le logiciel détenu par des tiers, et qui comprend la technologie relative aux polices de caractères, est protégé par un copyright et licencié par des fournisseurs de Sun.

Des parties de ce produit pourront être dérivées du système Berkeley BSD licenciés par l'Université de Californie. UNIX est une marque déposée aux Etats-Unis et dans d'autres pays et licenciée exclusivement par X/Open Company, Ltd.

Sun, Sun Microsystems, le logo Sun, docs.sun.com, AnswerBook, AnswerBook2, N1 et Solaris sont des marques de fabrique ou des marques déposées, de Sun Microsystems, Inc. aux Etats-Unis et dans d'autres pays. Toutes les marques SPARC sont utilisées sous licence et sont des marques de fabrique ou des marques déposées de SPARC International, Inc. aux Etats-Unis et dans d'autres pays. Les produits portant les marques SPARC sont basés sur une architecture développée par Sun Microsystems, Inc. Netscape est une marque de Netscape Communications Corporation aux Etats-Unis et dans d'autres pays. UNIX est une marque enregistree aux Etats-Unis et dans d'autres pays et licenciée exclusivement par X/Open Company Ltd.

L'interface d'utilisation graphique OPEN LOOK et Sun^{TM} a été développée par Sun Microsystems, Inc. pour ses utilisateurs et licenciés. Sun reconnaît les efforts de pionniers de Xerox pour la recherche et le développement du concept des interfaces d'utilisation visuelle ou graphique pour l'industrie de l'informatique. Sun détient une licence non exclusive de Xerox sur l'interface d'utilisation graphique Xerox, cette licence couvrant également les licenciés de Sun qui mettent en place l'interface d'utilisation graphique OPEN LOOK et qui en outre se conforment aux licences écrites de Sun.

CETTE PUBLICATION EST FOURNIE "EN L'ETAT" ET AUCUNE GARANTIE, EXPRESSE OU IMPLICITE, N'EST ACCORDEE, Y COMPRIS DES GARANTIES CONCERNANT LA VALEUR MARCHANDE, L'APTITUDE DE LA PUBLICATION A REPONDRE A UNE UTILISATION PARTICULIERE, OU LE FAIT QU'ELLE NE SOIT PAS CONTREFAISANTE DE PRODUIT DE TIERS. CE DENI DE GARANTIE NE S'APPLIQUERAIT PAS, DANS LA MESURE OU IL SERAIT TENU JURIDIQUEMENT NUL ET NON AVENU.





Contents

Preface 5

1

N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Issues 7
Installation Issues 7
Master Server Installation Completes on Unsupported Operating System (6204115) 7
CLI Client Installation Might Fail on Solaris 10 Server With Local Zone (6209280) 7
Uninstallation Issues 8
Side-by-Side Upgrade of a Windows Master Server Uninstall Fails (6188943) 8
Uninstallation Window Displays N1 Service Provisioning System 4.1 (6189043) 8
CLI Client Uninstallation Fails on Solaris 10 Server With Local Zone (6194834) 9
Runtime Issues 9
Check In Current Does Not Report Errors for Components That Do Not Support Check In Current (5063014) 9
System Might Hang When Using SSL on Red Hat Linux Advanced Server 3.0 (5084676) 9
Error When Importing a File From the Plug-Ins Page (5103015) 10
Unable to Bulk Delete All Versions of a Simple Component (6173519) 10
Notification Rules Might Cause Plans to Run Slowly (6176243) 10
Some Master Server APIs Do Not Verify Permissions (6199565) 11
Restore Fails if Master Server Path Different Between Backup and Restore (6201207) 11
Issues Interacting With the Windows 2000 Plug-In 11

Registry Key Resources With Only Default Value Cannot Be Deleted (5061644) 12

Changing a Microsoft IIS Setting and Then Resetting It Might Result in Differences Being Found (6189034) 12

Cannot Uninstall Windows IIS Application (6197564) 12

Issues Interacting With the BEA WebLogic Plug-In 12

EJB Component Is Not Uninstalled (5109783) 12

Comparison Fails With Snapshot Error When WebLogic Application Was Deleted From the WebLogic Console (6186456) 13

Comparison Does Not Report Differences For Undeployed Components (6186457) 13

Comparison Results Incorrect for Content Changes Made to the On Disk Representation of WebLogic Application Archives (6196108) 13

Cannot Deploy WebLogic EAR Component to a Managed Server Using Service Pack 3 or Later (6200140) 14

SSL Connections to WebLogic Administration Servers Are Not Supported (6203385) 14

Localization Issues 14

Locale Sensitive Sorting Is Not Supported 14

2 End-of-Software Support Statements 15

Current Release 15

Web Browsers 15

Operating Systems 15

Feature Releases 15

Universal User Group 16

Preface

The N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Release Notes contain installation problem details and other information that was not available until immediately before the release of the N1 $^{\text{TM}}$ Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0.

Who Should Use This Book

These notes are for users and system administrators who install and use the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0.

Related Books

You might need to refer to the following manuals when you install and use the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0:

- N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Installation Guide
- N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 System Administration Guide
- N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Operation and Provisioning Guide
- N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Plan and Component Developer's Guide
- N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 XML Schema Reference Guide
- N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Command-Line Interface Reference Manual

You can access the Japanese versions of the manuals on the docs.sun.com Web site at http://docs.sun.com/coll/1139.2?l=ja.

Accessing Sun Documentation Online

The docs.sun.com Web site enables you to access Sun technical documentation online. You can browse the docs.sun.com archive or search for a specific book title or subject. The URL is http://docs.sun.com.

Ordering Sun Documentation

Sun Microsystems offers select product documentation in print. For a list of documents and how to order them, see "Buy printed documentation" at http://docs.sun.com.

Typographic Conventions

The following table describes the typographic changes that are used in this book.

TABLE P-1 Typographic Conventions

Typeface or Symbol	Meaning	Example
AaBbCc123	The names of commands, files, and directories, and onscreen computer output	Edit your .login file.
		Use 1s -a to list all files.
		machine_name% you have mail.
AaBbCc123	What you type, contrasted with onscreen computer output	machine_name% su
		Password:
AaBbCc123	Command-line placeholder: replace with a real name or value	The command to remove a file is rm <i>filename</i> .
AaBbCc123	Book titles, new terms, and terms to be emphasized	Read Chapter 6 in the <i>User's</i> Guide.
		Perform a patch analysis.
		Do <i>not</i> save the file.
		[Note that some emphasized items appear bold online.]

Shell Prompts in Command Examples

The following table shows the default system prompt and superuser prompt for the C shell, Bourne shell, and Korn shell.

TABLE P-2 Shell Prompts

Shell	Prompt	
C shell prompt	machine_name%	
C shell superuser prompt	machine_name#	
Bourne shell and Korn shell prompt	\$	
Bourne shell and Korn shell superuser prompt	#	

N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Issues

This chapter describes N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 issues that are known to be problems.

- "Installation Issues" on page 7
- "Uninstallation Issues" on page 8
- "Runtime Issues" on page 9
- "Issues Interacting With the Windows 2000 Plug-In" on page 11
- "Issues Interacting With the BEA WebLogic Plug-In" on page 12
- "Localization Issues" on page 14

Installation Issues

This section describes known issues with installation.

Master Server Installation Completes on Unsupported Operating System (6204115)

The N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Master Server is not supported when running on Red Hat Linux Advanced Server 3.0. However, the Master Server installation program allows you to install a Master Server on Red Hat Linux Advanced Server 3.0.

Workaround: Do not install the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Master Server on Red Hat Linux Advanced Server 3.0. Installing the provisioning system on unsupported operating systems might result in undefined and unexpected behavior.

CLI Client Installation Might Fail on Solaris 10 Server With Local Zone (6209280)

If you attempt to install the CLI Client on a Solaris 10 server with a Solaris 10 local zone, the installation might fail. The following error message displays:

```
pkginstall: ERROR: unable to create package object </N1SPS5.0\text{-}home/cli>. pathname does not exist
```

```
group name <group> not found in group table(s)
owner name <user> not found in passwd table(s)
```

Installation of <SUNWspscl> on zone <xxxx> partially failed. Error! Failed to install SUNWspscl. Exit value was 2 Exiting..

The installation fails because the provisioning system installation program creates the *N1SPS5.0-home*/cli directory in the global zone, but not in the local zone. Also, the installation fails if the user and group you created to own the provisioning system are not served by the name service.

Workaround: To prevent the CLI Client installation failure, before you begin the installation, complete the following steps:

- Create the *N1SPS5.0-home*/cli directory in the local zone. *N1SPS5.0-home* is the home directory in which you plan to install the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System.
- If the name service does not serve the user and group, create the user and the group that will own the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System in the global zone and in all local zones.

Uninstallation Issues

This section describes known issues with uninstallation.

Side-by-Side Upgrade of a Windows Master Server Uninstall Fails (6188943)

When you are performing a side-by-side upgrade of a Windows Master Server, immediate uninstallation fails. Uninstallation might require manual intervention and reboot to complete.

Workaround: Stop the Master Server service from the Services application in the Windows Control Panel before running the Master Server uninstallation. After the uninstallation completes, the Master Server services are still present. Reboot the machine to remove the Master Server services entries in the Services application in the Windows Control Panel.

Uninstallation Window Displays N1 Service Provisioning System 4.1 (6189043)

After upgrading an N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 4.1 Windows version of the Local Distributor or Remote Agent to the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 version, if you uninstall that Local Distributor or Remote Agent, the title of the uninstallation window displays N1 Service Provisioning System 4.1.

Workaround: The uninstallation program proceeds properly. Ignore the erroneous title.

CLI Client Uninstallation Fails on Solaris 10 Server With Local Zone (6194834)

On a Solaris 10 server that contains one local Solaris 10 zone, if you use the cr uninstall.sh script to uninstall the CLI Client, the uninstallation fails. The following error messages display in the log file:

```
N1 Grid SPS Uninstaller Log.
Uninstall started on Fri Nov 12 10:51:36 PST 2004
   Attempting to remove: SUNWspscl SUNWspscl
pkgrm: ERROR: cannot use -A option when non-global zones exist
pkgrm: ERROR: cannot use -A option when non-global zones exist
```

Workaround: To uninstall the CLI Client, complete the following steps:

1. Change to the root user.

```
% su root
```

2. Use the pkgrm command without the -A option to manually remove the SUNWspscl, SUNWspscl, and SUNWspsjl packages.

```
# pkgrm SUNWspscl SUNWspscl SUNWspsjl
```

Runtime Issues

This section describes known runtime issues.

Check In Current Does Not Report Errors for Components That Do Not Support Check In Current (5063014)

The Check In Current operation enables you to ensure that the version of a component in the Master Server repository is the most recent. The Master Server checks its version of the component against the version on the source host. The check is based on metadata regarding the location of the component that was gathered at the time of previous check in.

You cannot perform the Check In Current operation on all component types. Typically, component types that can be browsed using the browser interface are eligible for the Check In Current operation.

When performing a bulk Check In Current operation, if you select a component type that does not support the Check In Current operation, the operation completes with no errors. The results displayed in the Progress dialog box for component types that are not supported might be empty or might represent historical data.

Workaround: No workaround is available.

System Might Hang When Using SSL on Red Hat Linux Advanced Server 3.0 (5084676)

If you are running the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System on Red Hat Linux Advanced Server 3.0, the system might hang when using Secure Socket Layer (SSL) connections.

SSL uses SecureRandom which uses /dev/random to generate random numbers. Red Hat Linux Advanced Server 3.0 includes a bug that causes /dev/random not to collect entropy. Since /dev/random does not generate numbers unless sufficient entropy is collected, applications hang when attempting to read random data from /dev/random.

Workaround: Choose one of the following workarounds:

- Red Hat plans to include a patch in Update 3 to correct the problem. Apply the patch from Red Hat to your system when the patch is available. For more information about the Red Hat patch, see http://bugzilla.redhat.com/bugzilla/show bug.cgi?id=117218.
- Do not use SSL as a connection type. Choose TCP/IP or SSH.
- Remove /dev/random and replace it with a symbolic link to /dev/urandom. /dev/urandom is less secure than /dev/random but the system does not hang when the provisioning system attempts an SSL connection on Red Hat Linux Advanced Server 3.0.

Error When Importing a File From the Plug-Ins Page (5103015)

From the browser interface on the Plug-Ins page, if you attempt to import a file that is larger than 40 MBytes, the import fails.

Workaround: To import plug-in files larger than 40 MBytes, use the plg.p.add command from the CLI Client . For instructions, see Chapter 11, "plg: CLI Commands for Plug-ins," in N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 Command-Line Interface Reference Manual.

Unable to Bulk Delete All Versions of a Simple Component (6173519)

If you create a new file component using the browser interface and perform a Check In Current operation on the component to create version 1.1, if you attempt to delete both versions of the component at the same time, the following error message displays:

The 1.0 version of the object cannot be deleted as long as other versions of the same object exist.

Workaround: Do not use bulk delete to delete the two components. Delete the components individually.

Notification Rules Might Cause Plans to Run Slowly (6176243)

If you create a notification rule that has few criteria or no criteria, plans might appear to run slowly. The plan does not complete slowly, but the display of the plan results might be delayed.

Workaround: When creating a notification rule, use as many criteria as possible. More criteria for a notification rule decreases the number of notification emails the provisioning system sends across the network. A lower number of notification emails is less likely to interfere with the display of plan results.

Some Master Server APIs Do Not Verify Permissions (6199565)

Some APIs that are available on the Master Server do not check for any permissions. Without permission checks, an unauthenticated user might invoke these services and possibly compromise the Master Server.

Workaround: You can set up the Master Server and CLI Clients to prevent unauthorized access. The following security options are available for the Master Server and the CLI Clients:

- Configure the Master Server to use SSL to connect to the CLI Clients.
- Install the CLI Client on servers that are accessible only to users who are authorized to access the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System.
- On Solaris OS, Red Hat Linux, and IBM AIX servers, install the CLI Client within a user group that contains only authorized provisioning system users as its members.
- Set the permissions for the CLI Client private keystore in N1SPS5.0-CLI-home/cli/data/private.store to 640. This permissions setting allows only authorized provisioning system users access to the CLI Client private keys to be able to connect to the Master Server.
- On Windows 2000 systems, ensure that the CLI Client private keystore has read permissions granted only to authorized provisioning system users.

Restore Fails if Master Server Path Different Between Backup and Restore (6201207)

If you attempt to restore data to a Master Server that is installed in a different path than the path to the Master Server that you used to create the backup file, the restore fails. The following message appears:

```
ERROR! Failed to restore the database successfully.
The following fatal errors were encountered
ERROR: stat failed on file 'N1SPS5.0-MS-home/': No such file or directory
```

N1SPS5.0-MS-home is the home directory of the Master Server that you used to create the backup.

Workaround: On the server where you want to restore the Master Server data, reinstall the Master Server into the same directory as the Master Server that you used to create the backup.

Issues Interacting With the Windows 2000 Plug-In

This section describes known issues with the Windows 2000 plug-in.

Registry Key Resources With Only Default Value Cannot Be Deleted (5061644)

You can create a component with a single resource of type registry key where the entry you capture is a single default value. However, without the accompanying registry key, you can deploy that value but you cannot uninstall it or delete it. A message indicating an invalid path appears.

Workaround: Ensure that registry keys that you capture include more than just a single default value. For example, include the key and the default value.

Changing a Microsoft IIS Setting and Then Resetting It Might Result in Differences Being Found (6189034)

When performing model to install comparisons that include snapshots of IIS settings, if an IIS setting is changed and then changed back to its original value on the target server, comparison results might indicate differences when no difference exists. In particular, IIS metabase properties that are inherited from parent nodes, such as read/write web site permissions or default document settings, are prone to this

Workaround: Ignore the differences that are found in these cases.

Cannot Uninstall Windows IIS Application (6197564)

When you uninstall a Windows IIS Application, the Master Server browser interface displays that the uninstallation was successful. However, the COM+ applications are not completely removed. The COM+ applications remain in the Add/Remove Software Programs in the Control Panel.

Workaround: Manually remove the remaining COM+ applications.

To prevent this problem, when you install the application, increase the value of the shutdownDelaySecs variable.

Issues Interacting With the BEA WebLogic Plug-In

This section describes known issues with the WebLogic plug-in.

EJB Component Is Not Uninstalled (5109783)

If you run the default uninstall procedure for an EJB component that was deployed to more than one virtual WebLogic managed server and select only one of the managed servers to be uninstalled, the EJB component does not appear to be uninstalled from the managed server.

After the uninstall, if you click the tab on the WebLogic console for the managed server from which you uninstalled the EJB, the console correctly reports that the EJB is no longer deployed. Also, when you click the EJB tab, the console reports that the EJB is no longer targeted at the managed server from which it was uninstalled.

However, on the EJB tab, the console reports that the EJB is deployed on the managed server.

If you uninstall the EJB from all managed servers, the EJB is removed from the WebLogic console correctly.

Workaround: The WebLogic Plug-In is uninstalled correctly. Ignore the erroneous display.

Comparison Fails With Snapshot Error When WebLogic Application Was Deleted From the WebLogic Console (6186456)

If you deploy a WebLogic web application that contains a web application container with a WAR file and web application settings and include a snapshot and then delete the web application from the WebLogic Console, the following error displays if you run a model to install comparison on the web application component:

```
Could not complete operation on webapp domain. No such webapp exists on domain /domain/. (310101)
```

The comparison should report a difference between the model and what is installed on the server. However, the comparison fails.

Workaround: No workaround is available.

Comparison Does Not Report Differences For Undeployed Components (6186457)

If you use the WebLogic Console to undeploy a WebLogic WAR or EJB component from a managed server or cluster, the WebLogic Console reports that the WAR or EJB component is still targeted to that managed server or cluster. Consequently, if you run a model to install comparison on the managed server or cluster, the comparison reports no differences. The model to install comparison checks the WebLogic Console and reports targeted applications as deployed.

Workaround: No workaround is available.

Comparison Results Incorrect for Content Changes Made to the On Disk Representation of WebLogic Application Archives (6196108)

If a WebLogic application is installed using the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 and then content changes are made to the on disk WAR archive on the administration server, the changes are not reported in comparison results. The problem does not occur when configuration changes are made.

Workaround: Comparisons can be customized using the generate and prepare extensions with more capabilities to preprocess the on disk representation prior to running the comparison. This type of customization might require some advanced scripting.

Cannot Deploy WebLogic EAR Component to a Managed Server Using Service Pack 3 or Later (6200140)

If you are using WebLogic 7.0 Service Pack 3 or later, you cannot deploy WebLogic EAR components. During an attempt to deploy an EAR component, the following message appears:

Execution ended abnormally. (025075)

Workaround: No workaround is available.

SSL Connections to WebLogic Administration Servers Are Not Supported (6203385)

When setting up a WebLogic administration server in the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0, clicking the Secure checkbox will attempt to set up connectivity using SSL. This selection causes an error when attempting to perform actions that require access to the WebLogic administration server.

Workaround: Always setup WebLogic administration server connections with requiring SSL connectivity. Do not select the Secure checkbox.

Localization Issues

This section describes issues encountered when using the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 in locales other than the English locale.

Locale Sensitive Sorting Is Not Supported

String-based data within the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System is sorted using the standard dictionary lexicon. Locale-specific collation is not performed. Consequently, accented versions of characters appear in a different position than the same unaccented characters.

End-of-Software Support Statements

This chapter lists end-of-support statements.

- "Current Release" on page 15
- "Feature Releases" on page 15

Current Release

The following features are no longer supported in the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0.

Web Browsers

Internet Explorer 5.5 is no longer supported for use with the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0.

Operating Systems

The following operating systems are no longer supported for use with the Master Server:

■ Red Hat Linux 7.2, 7.3, 8.0

The following operating systems are no longer supported for use with the Remote Agent, Local Distributor, and CLI Client:

- Solaris 2.6 OS
- Red Hat Linux 7.2, 7.3, 8.0
- AIX 4.3.3

.

Feature Releases

The following features might not be supported in a future release of the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System.

Universal User Group

The universal user group might not be supported in a future release of the N1 Grid Service Provisioning System. Equivalent functionality is available by using the registered user group. For more information about the registered user group, see "registered User Group" in N1 Grid Service Provisioning System 5.0 System Administration Guide.